IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Petitioner,)) Consolidated Cases) Case No. SC02-1694) Case No. SC01-1753)
CITY OF CLEARWATER, FLORIDA, Respondent.)) /
INITIAL BRIEF C STATE OF 1	
On Certified Que District Court of Appe	
	THOMAS E. WARNER Solicitor General LOUIS F. HUBENER Deputy Solicitor General
	DAVID F. CHESTER Assistant Attorney General on behalf of
	ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL OFFICE OF THE SOLICITOR GENERAL

The Capitol - PL-01 Tallahassee, FL 32399 (850) 414-3681 (850) 410-2672 (fax)

INTRODUCTION

This case is about a policy of the City of Clearwater that allows city employees to destroy and withhold public records created by them on government-owned computer equipment. This policy is sanctioned by the City in direct contravention of Art. I, § 24, Fla. Const. and Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., which define the public's constitutional right of access to public records, including electronic records. This Court must correct the lower courts' failure to enforce the public's right of access to these records.

Statement of the Case and Facts

The City of Clearwater ("City") allows employees to make limited personal use of computers that are City property and that are otherwise used by City employees to conduct City business. As a consequence of this policy, some City employees maintain computer files that contain email relating to their official duties and other email that is said to be "personal" and unrelated to the City's official business.

A handful of employees in the City's information technology department determine, on a day-to-day basis, whether and when employee email deemed "of no value" should be deleted to reduce

the overall size of the City's email database. (TR 188.)¹ When such directives are given, the actual purging is left to individual City employees who are given no further guidance than the bare instruction to delete this "valueless" email. <u>Id</u>.

In October of 2000, the St. Petersburg Times ("the Times") requested the City to produce all email sent to or from two city employees, John Asmar and Garrison Brumback, between June 1, 1999 and October 6, 2000. Upon receipt of the Times' request, the City allowed Mr. Asmar and Mr. Brumback, in their sole discretion, without review by anyone, and with no written policy to guide them, to select which email would be provided and which would be withheld as "personal." (<u>E.g.</u>, TR 164, 166, 187, 197-98; Times Ex. 2.) The City then provided to the Times only that email not deemed "personal" by Mr. Asmar and Mr. Brumback, and no portion of any withheld email. This is the City's procedure regarding public records requests made in reference to any employee's email, though the City has no policy defining "personal" email. (TR 197-98.)

Thereafter, the Times initiated this litigation by filing a petition for writ of mandamus with the trial court. (TR 1 <u>et</u> <u>seq</u>.) The Times asked the trial court to: 1) temporarily enjoin

¹ Citations to the record on appeal from the trial court will be designated "TR [page number]". Trial exhibits will be referenced "[Party] TR Exhibit #."

all City employees from deleting any email until the case was resolved; 2) order the City to deliver to the trial court a copy of all current, archived, or deleted-but-recoverable email to or from Mr. Brumback and Mr. Asmar for the period at issue; 3) declare that the email requested by the Times was a public record and that the City had not complied with the Public Records Act, both by failing to produce it and by failing to retain it; and 4) order the City to immediately allow the Times access to inspect and copy the records. <u>Id</u>.

In December of 2000, the trial court held an initial hearing on the motion for temporary injunction and ordered the City to make every reasonable effort to retrieve, preserve, and secure from destruction all email sent to, or received by, Mr. Asmar and Mr. Brumback between October 1, 1999, and October 6, 2000, until further court order. (TR 59-60.) However, in March of 2001, the trial court issued its final order denying the requested relief on the merits and dissolving its temporary injunction. (TR 256-57.)

The Times appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal, which affirmed the trial court's decision without prejudice to the Times' right to seek <u>in camera</u> review of the disputed documents. The Times then requested the district court to certify a question of great public importance to this Court, and

the Attorney General filed a motion to intervene as a party on behalf of the State of Florida and to be heard in support of the Times' motion for certification. On July 3, 2002, the district court withdrew and reissued its opinion in the case, granting the Attorney General's motion to intervene and amending its May 10, 2002, opinion to certify to this Court, as a matter of great public importance, the following question:

> Whether all e-mails transmitted or received by public employees of a government agency are public records pursuant to Section 119.011(1), Florida Statutes (2000), and Article I, Section 24(a), of the Florida Constitution by virtue of their placement on a government-owned computer system if the agency has a written policy that informs the employees that the agency maintains a right to custody, control and inspection of emails?

On May 24, 2002, the Attorney General timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court to review the July 3, 2002, opinion.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The City's policy has led to the gutting of the public's rights by authorizing the destruction and withholding of records that are unquestionably public. This Court can restore and protect the public's rights by holding, at a bare minimum, that 1) records created by an agency and documenting the use of its equipment are public and must be protected as such, and 2) the

legislatively-imposed duties of an agency's public records custodian preclude giving all agency employees unfettered authority over the destruction and withholding of records owned by the agency.

Article I, Section 24, of the Florida Constitution grants to "every person" the right to access the public records of their government unless said records are explicitly made exempt by the Legislature. When the Times was rebuffed in its request for City email and initiated an action to enforce its right of access, the City and the lower courts erroneously failed to provide the Times access to government-generated, public records of the use of its equipment. By failing to produce these records, the City violated the Times' constitutional right of access. By failing to provide any remedy to the Times, the courts below compounded this constitutional wrong.

The district court also misread, Florida's Public Records Act, Chapter 119, Fla. Stat., which creates a detailed scheme to protect access to public records and contemplates its oversight by an agency's public records custodian. The City's policy, allowing each and every employee to act as the <u>de facto</u> public records custodian of the email sent by and to them, is contrary to the statutory scheme laid out by the Legislature and it defeats the public's rights under Art. I, §24. The policy

allows unbridled, unsupervised discretion in the maintenance and destruction of public records by those who may, at worst, have a personal stake in withholding or destroying the records, and who, at best, are often untrained and unqualified to determine what is to be maintained or destroyed or what is to be produced pursuant to a public records request.

The district court, in error, found otherwise, stating in its opinion that:

Nothing in [Section 119.021] limits who the elected officer may designate in order to delegate the task to review requested records. Moreover, chapter 119 provides no specific procedure for a government entity to follow in determining whether a record is "public," and, if so, whether it is otherwise exempt from disclosure.

The district court's first finding, that nothing in § 119.021 "limits who the elected officer may designate...to review the public records," is both unacceptably far-reaching and inconsistent with the duties imposed on an agency's custodian of records by Chapter 119.

The second point in the above-quoted paragraph, that the Public Records Act "provides no specific procedure for [an agency] to follow in determining whether a record is 'public'," ignores both the expansive definition of "public records" found in § 119.011(1) and the core requirement of § 119.021: that the agency's head, or his or her designee, performs the custodial role that is referenced throughout the Public Records Act-a role that includes, expressly and impliedly, making such determinations. By placing this constitutional burden on an agency head, it must be presumed that the Legislature chose the person highest in the chain of command because he or she would be more informed and aware of the public records law than the rank-and-file employee (or that he or she would be wise enough to designate an individual well-versed in the law's requirements or sufficiently informed to know when to seek legal advice).

Unfortunately, the district court threw up its hands, finding that the issues presented in this case were not a matter for it to "resolve." However, by failing to resolve these issues-or even to examine them discerningly-the district court has failed to protect the public's constitutional right of access to the electronic records of its government.

Accordingly, the decision of the district court should be modified to protect the public's right of access to all governmental records of email activity and to account for the only reasonable interpretation of the duties of an agency's public records custodian. If the district court's opinion is allowed to stand, the public will have no access to records documenting the use of public property by public employees.

Standard of Review

This appeal presents solely issues of interpretation and application of law which are reviewed *de novo*. <u>See Sarkis v.</u> <u>Pafford Oil Co.</u>, 697 So. 2d 524 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); <u>see also</u> <u>Hancock v. Dep't of Corrections</u>, 585 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT RECOGNIZING THAT ANY RECORD OF THE USE OF CITY EQUIPMENT IS A PUBLIC RECORD.

Though Florida's courts have consistently held that email may be a public record, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>In re Amendments to Rule of</u> <u>Judicial Administration 2.051</u>, 651 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 1995), they have failed to acknowledge marked and material differences between email and traditional paper documents. This case demands that such a material difference be recognized-because electronic mail, in addition to containing a communication, carries with it a public record of the use of government equipment: the email "header." As discussed below, the inclusion of this public information in an email makes the document a public record.

In the "General Records Schedule GS1-L for Local Government Agencies," Division of Library and Information Services, Department of State ("DOS") (available at

http://dlis.dos.state.fl.us/barm and establishing the minimum retention periods for public records), the DOS has recognized both this unique feature and its import. At page ii of the GS1-L, the DOS notes that traditional paper documents and "records created or maintained in electronic format must be retained in accordance with the minimum retention requirements presented in these schedules.... Printouts of e-mail files are acceptable in place of the electronic files **provided that the printed version contains the complete header information, including all date/time stamps, routing information, etc."** (Emphasis added.)

This language denotes an important distinction between email and traditional paper documents: that is, the header provides the record of a transaction using government-owned equipment. This is why analogies to traditional paper documents, filing cabinets, and the like, are unhelpful, and why maintenance of the email, including its header, is important both to the DOS and in considering the case at bar.

If an agency were to keep a log of its incoming and outgoing "traditional" mail (including the senders, recipients, times, dates, etc.), without question, no statutory exemption would justify withholding this log-regardless of the nature of the letters sent and received. And while no agency is required to

create such a log, it is a fact that the City computers sending and receiving the email at issue <u>do</u> create one. The only distinction is that, rather than condensing it into a single document, the log information is contained with each individual email. This distinction, however, fits no exemption that would preclude a citizen from access to such transactional information.

Further, there is no question that the telephone records of a government agency are computer-generated, public records. This is so because they are logs of the agency's use of its equipment. And though legislative exemptions from disclosure might be asserted regarding certain numbers contained in the phone records, this would by no means justify an agency's destruction or withholding of the entire document. E.g., § 119.07 (providing for redaction of exempt material from public records). The email header is like the phone record in that it documents the use of agency communications equipment. Like a phone record, the document (i.e., the email) containing the information (i.e., the header) is public and must be maintained, regardless of whether it also includes non-public information.

This would be no less true if an agency's phone records were formatted with the record of each individual phone call on a

single page-regardless of what a given employee may write on it. And, while phone records are not usually kept in this manner, it is clearly analogous to what the City's computers do: when an email is sent or received, they record, in the header atop the page, a record of each such use of the computer. Thus, the document containing the header must be considered a public record. When viewed in this context, the public-record status of an email is clear.

Therefore, the Times should have been provided the email they requested. Like a traditional-mail log, they are nonexempt, public records created in the course of the agency's business; and, like phone records, they are non-exempt, computer-generated, public records of the City's use of its communications equipment. Whether the content in the body of the email may or may not be exempt would in no way exempt the portion of the record documenting that the transaction occurred. If the City's records custodian determined the content of any email to be somehow non-public, then the custodian could have redacted it in accordance with the specific procedures outlined in Ch. 119-rather than withholding it completely, in violation of the constitution.

II. FLORIDA'S PUBLIC RECORDS ACT CANNOT REASONABLY BE CONSTRUED TO ALLOW EACH AND EVERY PUBLIC EMPLOYEE

TO BE A DESIGNATED "RECORDS CUSTODIAN" AS THE TERM IS DEFINED AND USED IN FLORIDA'S PUBLIC RECORDS LAW.

The City's practice and policy of allowing each of its employees unfettered discretion in the destruction and withholding of email violates Chapter 119 and the public's rights under the Florida Constitution. If the integrity of the public's right of access to its government's electronic public records is to be preserved in any meaningful way, the lower courts' construction of Chapter 119 must be corrected.

The plain language of Fla. Const. Art. I, § 24, and the Public Records Act create a broad right of access to the records of Florida's state agencies, counties, and municipalities. <u>See,</u> <u>e.g.</u>, § 119.01(1) ("It is the policy of this state that all state, county, and municipal records shall be open for personal inspection by any person."); <u>accord, e.g.</u>, <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990); <u>Lorei v. Smith</u>, 464 So.2d 1330 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985) <u>rev</u>. <u>denied</u>, 475 So.2d 695 (Fla. 1985); <u>Dade Aviation</u> <u>Consultants v. Knight Ridder, Inc.</u>, 800 So.2d 302 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2001); § 119.01(3) ("The Legislature finds that providing access to public records is a duty of each agency and that the automation of public records must not erode the right of access to those records.")

An agency's duty to provide access to public records under

§ 119.01(3) includes, of necessity, the duties to determine which records in the agency's custody are public and to maintain them.² This duty is vested in the legal custodian of the records. <u>See, e.g.</u>, §§ 119.07 (requiring, <u>inter alia</u>, the legal records custodian to supervise the inspection and release of public records and to assert exemptions to release); 119.08 (requiring the custodian to supervise photography of records); and 119.11(4) (when a civil action is filed to enforce the provisions of Chapter 119, the custodian of the public record that is the subject of such action shall not transfer custody, alter, destroy, or otherwise dispose of the record). This issue frequently arises in one of two contexts: when an agency seeks to dispose of a record and when access to records is sought.

In the context of record retention or disposal, the DOS, under the authority of the Legislature, has promulgated minimum retention schedules for various classes of public records. §§ 119.09, 119.041(1) (requiring the consent of the DOS prior to disposal of "records no longer needed"); "General Records Schedule GS1-L for Local Government Agencies"; <u>see also</u> § 119.01(4) (stating that each agency shall establish a records disposal program in accordance with retention schedules

² The definition of an "agency" in § 119.011(2) includes municipalities.

established by the DOS).

If an agency wishes to dispose of a record, a determination must first be made whether a record is a public record <u>vel non</u>. Further, the person making the determination on behalf of a local government must consult Schedule GS1-L before disposal of any record he or she determines to be public.

When access to records is sought, an agency is required to produce all public records not exempt from disclosure by statute. § 119.07. This responsibility requires an answer to the threshold question: "Are the records for which disclosure is sought, 'public'?" It clearly follows that an incorrect answer to the threshold question of whether a record is public will lead to the destruction or withholding of records that should be available to the public. Thus, without proper oversight and guidance, the public's rights under the Florida Constitution and the Public Records Act could easily be frustrated.

As a practical matter, the threshold question of whether a record is a public record <u>vel non</u> is almost always answered without the public's knowledge that it has even been asked. This is why the Public Records Act vests the duty to answer that question in an individual, elected or appointed, employed by and on behalf of the public: a Records Custodian.

Section 119.021(a) states:

Custodian Designated.

The elected or appointed state, county, or municipal officer charged with the responsibility of maintaining the office having public records, or his or her designee, shall be custodian thereof.

When read in context, the word, "officer" cannot reasonably be construed to mean, "any individual governmental employee," therefore, the word, "office," cannot reasonably be construed to mean "the office of any individual governmental employee." Public records belong to the office, not to individual employees.

Further, one finds this same type of language in other sections of the Public Records Act and, likewise, its restrictive nature simply cannot be ignored. <u>See, e.g.</u>, § 119.08 (allowing photography of public records "while in the custody and control of <u>the lawful custodian</u> thereof, or his or her <u>authorized deputy</u>")(emphasis added); § 119.05 (requiring the custodian to deliver records to succeeding officer); § 119.11(4) (prescribing the custodian's duties when a civil action is filed). If the legislative intent were to allow innumerable custodians, this language would not be necessary.

Thus, when read alone or in <u>pari materia</u> with other sections of the Public Records Act, including the legislative policy stated in § 119.01, § 119.021 cannot reasonably be interpreted

to mean that a governmental officer may, on his or her behalf, designate each and every one of his or her employees as the lawful "public records custodian." Significantly, and in error, the district court found otherwise.

Admittedly, it is possible for any individual employee to violate the law, intentionally or otherwise, by destroying, or withholding from the legal custodian, the public records in his or her possession at any given time. This does not, however, transform the employee into the legal records custodian. <u>Puls</u> <u>v. City of Port St. Lucie</u>, 678 So.2d 514 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) (distinguishing between an employee with possession of a public record and the legal records custodian while holding that a cause of action existed against an employee who, individually, withheld a public record, not the legal records custodian).

Likewise, there is certainly no practical way to keep a constant eye upon each employee to ensure that he or she is not, at any given time, sitting in his or her office shredding a public document. However, protection of public records, where practicable, is mandated. <u>See e.g.</u>, § 119.031 ("Keeping records in safe places; copying or repairing certified copies."); <u>cf</u>. § 119.01 (echoing the constitutional right to access public records and adding that "automation of public records must not erode the right of access"); <u>cf. also</u> Art. I, § 24 (mandating

the right of access to public records).

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