### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,	
vs.	CONSOLIDATED CASES SC 02-1694 AND SC02-
1753 CITY OF CLEARWATER,	50 V2 10) 1 11 V2 50 V2
FLORIDA, Respondent.	LT No. 2D001-3055
Respondent.	L1 No. 2D001-3033
TIMES PUBLISHING COMPANY, Petitioner,	
vs.	
CITY OF CLEARWATER, FLORIDA,	
Respondent.	
	COURT OF APPEAL
	EARWATER'S ANSWER BRIEF
	EARWATER'S ANSWER BRIEF  LESLIE K. DOUGALL-
SIDES	
	LESLIE K. DOUGALL- Assistant City Attorney PAMELA K. AKIN City Attorney CITY OF CLEARWATER
	LESLIE K. DOUGALL- Assistant City Attorney PAMELA K. AKIN City Attorney
	LESLIE K. DOUGALL- Assistant City Attorney PAMELA K. AKIN City Attorney CITY OF CLEARWATER P.O. Box 4748

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The statutory definition of "public records" contained in Section 119.011(1) contains the qualifying language "made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business." Thus it is the content and context of a document which determines its public records status. Applicable case law, attorney general opinions, and State of Florida policies have recognized a nexus between official business and the public records definition. A policy stating that the municipal employer retains ownership of computer resources and has the right to inspect employee e-mail does not and cannot change their public records status. Documents created or stored on an employee's personally owned equipment, if done so in connection with official business, are public records despite private hardware or software ownership. The presence of a header in e-mail does not change this analysis. There is no duty to create a log of e-mail headers, and to require agencies to do so is contrary to the Public Records Act and uneconomical. Evidence of Respondent City's overall public records retention policy is not of record in this action. Chapter 119 contains few specifics regarding duties of records custodians and retention procedures. Respondent City did not violate Chapter 119 in its handling of Petitioner Times' public records request. Even if the subject e-mails are public record, they fell within the "transitory records" retention category and any duty to retain them was short-lived.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In appellate proceedings in which a question has been certified by a District Court of Appeal to this Honorable Court, the Court has broad authority to review issues other than the precise issue certified. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>G.W.B. v. J.S.W.</u>, 658 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. den.</u>, 516 U.S. 1051 (1996). However, the instant case is not a purely theoretical inquiry in that Petitioners seek an order directing the production of the subject records to Petitioner Times. Therefore, this Honorable Court should consider the record evidence below in the event that it accepts jurisdiction and renders a decision on the merits.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. E-MAILS TRANSMITTED OR RECEIVED BY PUBLIC EMPLOYEES OF A GOVERNMENT AGENCY ON A GOVERNMENT-OWNED COMPUTER SYSTEM ARE NOT PUBLIC RECORDS SOLELY BECAUSE THE AGENCY HAS A WRITTEN POLICY STATING THAT IT MAINTAINS A RIGHT TO CUSTODY, CONTROL AND INSPECTION OF E-MAILS.

The question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal was whether a government agency's assertion of custody, control, and inspection over electronic mail ("e-mail") documents transmitted or received by public employees was enough to transform them into public records, whatever their content. (The question was formulated by Petitioner Times in its Motion for Certification.) Article I, section 24, of the Florida Constitution provides that

[e]very person has the right to inspect or copy an public record made or received in connection with the official business of any public body, officer, or employee of the state, or persons acting on their behalf, except with respect to records exempted pursuant to this section or specifically made confidential by this Constitution.

The statutory definition of "public records" implementing that constitutional mandate, as well as judicial opinions and attorney general opinions interpreting that definition, indicate that it is the duty to make or receive documents, as well as their content, which determines whether they are public records:

"Public records" are defined as [a]ll documents, papers, letters, maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, characteristics, or means of transmission, made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business by any agency.

§ 119.011(1), Fla. Stat. (2001) (emphasis added). It is not the ownership, custody, location or control of the documents that determines their public records status. It is their content and context, and the duty to make or receive them, which matters. E-mails of personal content are not public records because they are not made or received in the course of official business, and there is no duty to create or receive them.

Judicial and administrative interpretations to date support this conclusion. In construing the statutory definition, this Honorable Court has focused upon the intent of the document drafter or recipient:

[W]e hold that a public record, for purposes of section 119.011(1), is any material prepared in connection with official agency business which is intended to perpetuate, communicate, or formalize knowledge of some type.

Shevin v. Byron, Harless, Schafer, Reid & Associates, 379 So. 2d 633, 640 (Fla. 1980). The subject e-mails do not constitute the "final evidence of the knowledge to be recorded" [Shevin at 640], as argued by Petitioner Times, because they are of personal, not business-related, content and do not represent the agency's knowledge. In Opinion 96-34, the Florida Attorney General

concluded that e-mail messages "made or received by [the office of a property appraiser] in connection with the transaction of official business are public records subject to the requirements of Chapter 119...." (emphasis added). Such messages made or received by public employees "in carrying out their duties" must be retained per an approved retention schedule. The Attorney General noted that the Florida Legislature amended Section 119.011(1) in 1995 to include records made or received in connection with official business regardless of the means of transmission, "thus evincing an intent to include information transmitted by computer". It was the connection to official business, however, which in the Attorney General's opinion rendered the documents subject to Likewise, a Department of State Office of General Counsel Memorandum dated November 9, 1995 discussing e-mail states that "[s]ome e-mail messages are public records within the meaning of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes; other messages are not. E-mail messages that are not public records need not be retained....Non-business e-mail messages are not public records and need not be retained." R. 29-34. At least some branches of State government, then, find personal e-mails not to be public records. This Honorable Court's review of the statutory definition should be in accordance with the "plain meaning" rule; that is, where the language of a provision is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, it should be given that plain meaning. E.g., Rollins v. Pizzarelli, 761 So. 2d 294 (Fla. 2000). Even in the event that rules of statutory construction must be applied, those principles require that the plain and ordinary meaning of the terms "pursuant to law or ordinance" and "transaction of official business" be used, with the same result as reached by the Second District Court of Appeal in this case. Id. at 298.

The business of a city is to provide services to the public, not to operate a computer network; therefore, it cannot be said that e-mail capability itself constitutes "official business" as seemingly argued by Petitioners.

The City's Computer Resources Use Policy asserts certain rights with regard to the Computer Resources, although it does not use the specific terminology ("custody, control, and inspection of e-mails") of the certified question. The Policy provides that

The Computer Resources are the property of the City of Clearwater and are intended for use for legitimate business purposes. . . . Incidental use for personal research of communications not otherwise violating the Policy may be allowed by individual Department Directors. . . . Users consent to allowing City personnel to access and review all materials which Users create, store, send, or receive on the Computer Resources, for purposes such as complying with a public records request, investigation of suspected misuse of the Computer Resources, or conducting system repairs.

Subsections A., B. Also included is a statement meant to negate any assertion of expectation of privacy by the employee. <u>Id.</u>, Subsection B. As the Second District Court of Appeal noted, this case does not involve the assertion of any right of privacy on the part of the employees. <u>Times Publishing Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>; R. 170. The rights asserted by the City in its Policy do not somehow transform documents which otherwise would not be public records into public records.

The Policy further recognizes that it is not the computer system on which a document is generated, but rather the content and context of the document, that is relevant to public records retention, and requires City employees to retain public record documents wherever kept. The Policy states that

[u]sers are advised that documents created, stored, sent, or received on computers other than those belonging to the City, such as home computers, or using private e-mail accounts, may be public records if they are made or received in connection with City business. Public records must be saved and retained in accordance with records retention schedules adopted by the City. Users are responsible for reviewing the City Clerk's Policy for Electronic Mail [Retention] and complying with it. . . .¹Those Users who . . . use home or mobile computer equipment owned by them for the purpose of telecommuting will be subject to this policy while engaged in work for the City of Clearwater and using such equipment. Those Users who use personal e-mail accounts to conduct City of Clearwater business will be subject to this Policy during such use of the accounts.

R. 38, City of Clearwater Computer Resources Use Policy, at 4, Subsection D. Again, it is the content and not computer ownership or location of the documents that controls.

This portion of the policy comports with cases holding that an agency may not withhold documents whose content makes them public record by depositing them with a private entity. See, e.g., Times Publishing Company, Inc. v. City of St. Petersburg, 558 So. 2d 487 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (documents in custody of counsel for other party in negotiations not insulated from public records status where being discussed and revised by City's counsel). And as the Second District Court of Appeal recognized, documents do not become public record simply by virtue of their inclusion in an agency file. Times Publishing Company, supra, citing Lopez v. State, 696 So. 2d 725 (Fla. 1997) (state attorney notes not public record); Hill v. Prudential Insurance Company of America, 701 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) rev. den., 717 So. 2d 536 (Fla. 1998) (private party privileged documents not public record because of inclusion in state agency file); News & Sun-Sentinel Co. v. Modesitt, 466 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), rev. den., 476 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1985) (custodial records held by Department of Agriculture not public record).

The only record testimony in this action regarding the nature and content of the e-mails sought by Petitioner Times was that of Assistant City Manager Garrison Brumback, who stated that some of the e-mails sought were of a personal nature not related to City business and that he had no business duty to make them. R. 177-78. This testimony was unrebutted, and Petitioner Times did not move to obtain an <u>in camera</u> inspection of the documents.

Admittedly not identical, but analogous, are the requirements derived from article I, section 24, of the Florida Constitution concerning judicial records. In In re Amendments to Rule of Judicial Administration 2.051—Public Access to Judicial Records, 651 So. 2d 1185 (Fla. 1995), this Honorable Court stated that "[e]-mail may also include transmissions that are clearly not official business and are, consequently, not required to be recorded as a public record." The "fact that information made or received in connection with the official business of the judicial branch can be made or received electronically does not change the constitutional and rule-mandated obligation of judicial officials and employees to direct and channel such official business information so that it can be properly recorded as a public record" Id. at 1190, 1187 (emphasis added). Petitioner Times points out that the Rule was recently amended. Relevant amendments appear directed at clarifying the definitions of "records of the judicial branch" and its subcategories "court records" and "administrative records". The definition of "records of the judicial branch" includes the wording "made or received in connection with the transaction of official business," the definition of "administrative records" contains the wording "made or received pursuant to court rule, law, or ordinance, or in connection with the transaction of official business," and "court records" is defined as "contents of the court file." Report of Supreme Court on Public Records, No. SC01-897, Revised Opinion (September 12, 2002), at 15. Thus all current judicial records characterizations include a nexus with the official business of the judicial branch.

If this Honorable Court finds that the City's Policy does not conform to state constitutional or statutory requirements, then the Policy is void and unenforceable to the extent that it violates those requirements. However, that would not render what is not public record in the first instance to be such. The Second District Court of Appeal recognized this principle when it determined that the City's policy "did not and could not alter the statutory definition of public records for purposes of Chapter 119." <u>Times Publishing Co.</u>, <u>supra</u>, <u>citing as cf.</u>, <u>Browning v. Walton</u>, 351 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1977) (agency cannot create public records exemption not in accord with Section 119.07(2)).

### II. THE PRESENCE OF A HEADER IN PERSONAL E-MAILS DOES NOT TRANSFORM THEM INTO PUBLIC RECORDS.

Petitioner State argues that personal e-mails become public record because all e-mails contain a header containing certain information. Theoretically this could include information as to who sent and received the e-mails, the date and time of transmission/receipt, the topic, and other information, or could contain no information, as dictated by computer software. There is no evidence of record in this case to indicate whether headers existed in the subject e-mails and if so what their content was. The authority cited for this proposition by the State, General Records Schedule GS1-L, merely states that if a paper memorandum is determined to be public record and is to be retained, the custodian should not remove the To: and From: information prior to retention. Likewise, if an e-mail is public record and is to be retained, any header information in existence should be included. This does not mean, however, that an e-mail otherwise not public record becomes one simply because it has a header, or that software to generate headers with certain content must be purchased and installed.

The Public Records Act does not use the terminology "record of a transaction using government-owned equipment" mentioned by the State, nor is there a statutory duty to create such records. Rather, the inquiry is whether a document exists and was made or received pursuant to law or ordinance or in connection with the transaction of official business.

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